
Lead Member for Finance and Support Services 
Briefing  
 
Dear Member, 

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Lead Member for Finance and Support 
Services Briefing to be held as follows for the transaction of the business indicated. 

Tom Stannard 
Chief Executive  

 
DATE: Tuesday, 28 February 2023 

 
TIME:  2.00 pm 
 
VENUE: Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton 

 
In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 

2014,’ the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record 
this meeting.  

 

AGENDA 

 
1   Apologies for absence.  

 

 

2   Declarations of interest.  

 

 

3   Items for Decision (Part 1 - Open to the Public):  

 

 

3a Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Business Rates Relief Scheme.  
 

(Pages 2 - 8) 

3b 2023 Supporting Small Business Scheme.  
 

(Pages 9 - 15) 

3c Former Tenants' Arrears Write Off.  

 

(Pages 16 - 46) 

3d Ceremony Fees Review.  

 

(Pages 47 - 63) 

4   Exclusion of the Public.  

 

 

5   Items for Decision (Part 2 - Closed to the Public):  
 

No items. 
 

 

 

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 2602 
Claire Edwards E-Mail: decisionmakingandscrutiny@salford.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack



 1 

Part 1: Open to the Public 

 

REPORT OF  

Strategic Director of Service Reform   

 

TO 

 THE LEAD MEMBER FOR FINANCE AND SUPPORT SERVICES  
 

ON  

 
28 February 2023 

 

TITLE: Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Business Rates Relief Scheme  
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
The Lead Member is requested to approve the following: - 

 The arrangements for the award of the 2023/2024 Retail, Hospitality and 
Leisure Business Rates Relief using Local Authority discretionary relief 

powers under section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 (as 
amended), to grant relief. 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
On 17 November 2022 the government announced the introduction of a new 
business rates relief scheme for retail, hospitality, and leisure properties.  

 
The 2023/24 Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Business Rates Relief scheme will 

provide eligible, occupied properties with a 75% relief, up to a cash cap limit of 
£110,000 per business. 
 

As this is a temporary measure for 2023/24 only, the government is not changing the 
legislation relating to the reliefs available to properties. Instead, the government will, 

in line with the eligibility criteria, reimburse local authorities that use their 
discretionary relief powers under section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1988, to grant relief.  

 
It is for individual local billing authorities to adopt a local scheme and determine in 
each individual case when, having regard to government guidance, to grant relief 

Page 2

Agenda Item 3a



 2 

under section 47. The government will fully reimburse local authorities for their loss in 
income under the rates retention scheme as a result of awarding the relief, using a 
grant under section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003. 

 
The government expects billing authorities to apply and grant relief to qualifying 

ratepayers from the start of the 2023/24 billing year  
 
 

 

 
 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 
The 2023/24 Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Business Rates Relief 

 

Business Rates Relief: 2023/24 Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Scheme, local 
authority guidance - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

KEY DECISION: No 

 

DETAILS:  
The Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Business Rates Relief scheme will provide 
eligible, occupied, retail, hospitality, and leisure properties with a 75% relief, up to a 

cash cap limit of £110,000 per business for chargeable days from 1 April 2023 to 31 
March 2024. The eligibility for the relief will be assessed and calculated daily. 

 

Properties that will benefit to the relief are: - 

 Shops, restaurants, cafes, drinking establishments, cinemas, and live music 

venues, for assembly and leisure; or as hotels, guest & boarding premises 
and self-catering accommodation, and. 

 the ratepayer has not refused the relief for the eligible hereditament. The 
ratepayer may refuse the relief for each eligible hereditament anytime up to 

30 April 2024.  

 Ratepayers that occupy more than one property will be entitled to relief for 
each of their eligible properties up to the maximum £110,000 cash cap, per 

business. 
 

Billing Authorities may not grant the relief to themselves in line with the legal 
restrictions in section 47 (8A) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 

Our software providers NEC Software Solutions have advised there are no software 

changes required to calculate the relief in 2023/2024. Customers who we believe will 
qualify for Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Business Rates Relief in 2023/24 have 
been identified and it is the intention to award the relief in start of year bills.  

Page 3

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-relief-202324-retail-hospitality-and-leisure-scheme-local-authority-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-relief-202324-retail-hospitality-and-leisure-scheme-local-authority-guidance


 3 

Regulations made under section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 
authorities must give at least 12 months’ notice of a revocation or variation of a rate 
relief scheme the effect of which would be to increase rate bills (other than to comply 

with any international agreement). Such a revocation or variation can only take effect 
at the end of a financial year but, within these regulations, local authorities may still 

make decisions which are conditional upon eligibility criteria. If a change in 
circumstances renders a property ineligible or reduces the value of the award, the 
relevant bill can be amended in the year to reflect the loss of the relief.  

 
Therefore, when making an award for Retail Hospitality and Leisure Relief, we will be 

ensuring in the conditions of the award that the relief are subject to the property’s 
continuing eligibility 

 

 

The Cash Cap and Subsidy Control  

Under the cash cap, no ratepayer can in any circumstances exceed the £110,000 

cash cap across all their hereditaments in England. 

NEC Revenues software will issue a warning if applying the relief for a party who has 
this relief granted on another property in Salford, however the Local Authority will 
need to manage these cases manually with regards to properties elsewhere in 

England 

Furthermore, the Retail Hospitality and Leisure scheme is likely to amount to subsidy 
any relief provided by Local Authorities under this scheme will need to comply with 

the UK’s domestic and international subsidy control obligations. The new UK subsidy 
control regime commenced on 4 January 2023. 
 

To administer a subsidy under the Minimal Financial Assistance thresholds it is 
necessary for the Local Authority to establish that the award of subsidy will not result 

in the economic actor having received more than £315,000 in a three-year period 
2023/2024 financial year and the two previous years  
 

Where it is clear to the local authority that the ratepayer is likely to breach the cash 
cap or the Minimal Financial Assistance limit then the authority should automatically 

withhold the relief. 

 
Local authorities may include the relief in bills and ask the ratepayers, on a self-

assessment basis, to inform the authority if they are in breach of the cash cap or 
Minimal Financial Assistance limit. 

 
Minimal Financial Assistance subsidies above £100,000 are subject to transparency 
requirements. This is not cumulated per beneficiary but applies per subsidy award. 

This means that for every individual subsidy provided of more than £100,000, the 
local authority needs to include details of the subsidy on the subsidy control 
database. 

Page 4



 4 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
Estimated cost of the scheme in 2023/24   

 

The government will reimburse the authority for loss of income under the rates 

retention scheme because of awarding the relief. Billing authorities will be provided 
with “on-account” s.31 payments covering the full amount of relief awarded, to ensure 
that cash flow is not affected.  

 
Salford City Council have already provided an estimate of our likely cost for providing 

the relief in our National Non-Domestic Rate Return 1 (NNDR1) for 2023/24 this was 
submitted 31.1.23. We will be asked to provide outturn data on the actual cost for 
providing the relief via National Non-Domestic Rate Return 3 (NNDR3). Any 

reconciliation will be carried out at this point.  

   

Relief Type  

Current Case 

Load   

Value of 

Award  

Retail Hospitality and Leisure 
scheme 885 £7,564,071 

   

   

   

Communication  
 

We will be notifying ratepayers of the award of the Retail Hospitality and Leisure 
scheme. We will be awarding the Relief in bills and will ask the ratepayers, on a self-

assessment basis, to inform the authority if they are in breach of the cash cap or 
Small Amounts of Financial Assistance subsidy. 

 
There will also be a relief refusal form made available for businesses who:  

 have exceeded the cash cap on other properties, or 

 have received more than the Minimal Financial Assistance limit of £315,000 
over three years (including 2023/24) 

 
The Website will be updated, and we will keep refreshing and updating as 
appropriate  

 
Social media posts will be scheduled, and we will be tagging in various business 

organisations to share 
 
We are working on designs for the community digital boards across the city 

promoting business support  
 

 

Page 5



 5 

RECOMMENDATION  
 

Using Local Authority discretionary relief powers under section 47 of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1988, to grant Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Business 
Rates Relief to identified properties.  

 

Include the Retail Hospitality and Leisure relief in 2023/2024 start of year bill and ask 
the ratepayers, on a self-assessment basis, to inform the authority if they are in 

breach of the cash cap or received more than the Minimal Financial Assistance limit. 
 

In accordance with Section 2(1) (a) of the National Non-Domestic Rating 
(Discretionary Relief) Regulations 1989, make it clear that the conditions of the 
award are subject to the property’s continuing eligibility.  

 

Make it clear in the approved scheme that, for the purposes of section 47 of the 1988 

Act, hereditaments where the ratepayer has refused the relief are outside of the 
scheme and outside of the scope of the decision of which hereditaments qualify for 
the discount and are therefore ineligible for the relief. 

 
Adopting this approach will allow the authority to issue an accurate 2023/24 bill to 

eligible businesses at the start of the financial year and provide awareness of 
entitlement. Also making available a cash cap or Minimal Financial Assistance limit 
declaration, discharges the Local Authority responsibility. The administration of the 

scheme presented complies with the requirements of the Government Guidance.   

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
Milestones  

 

 28.02.23 Approval of scheme ELMB Finance and Support Services and 

Workforce and Industrial Relations  

 28.02.23 Publish Details of the Retail Hospitality and Leisure relief scheme on 

our webpage 

 28.02.23 Publish an Online Retail Hospitality and Leisure relief application 
form   

 09.03.23 Complete Business Rates Annual Billing. 

 14.03.23 Issue start of year bill reflecting Retail Hospitality and Leisure relief 

and ask the ratepayers, on a self-assessment basis, to inform the authority if 
they are in breach of the cash cap or received more than the Minimal Financial 

Assistance limit. 

 Ongoing improve awareness and access to Retail Hospitality and Leisure 
relief 

 

Page 6



 6 

 

 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  
 

 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: Rachel Todd Policy 

and Quality Officer  
Reaching out to local businesses to inform them of the availability of the new 
business rates relief scheme for retail, hospitality, and leisure properties does not 
disproportionately negatively affect people with protected characteristics.  

 
Business owners from certain religious groups may use online and electronic 

communications less than other businesses but the Business Rates team is 
mitigating the risk of not reaching people by contacting eligible businesses by letter 

and using other approaches rather than relying purely on an online promotion. This 
will also be suitable for older business owners who prefer personal contact over 
online.  

 
The Business Rates team has not found language to be a barrier to communication 

with business owners so far but the council does commission translation services 
where these are necessary. 

 

The variety of methods of contact already used or planned to be used will mitigate 
the risk of not reaching people from particular backgrounds or those who may not be 

able to use certain methods of application due to vision or hearing impairment. 
 

 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  
Failure to support Businesses and issue an inaccurate 2023/2024 bill to eligible businesses 
at the start of the financial year. 
 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Nicky Smith, Senior Solicitor 

The Government guidance accessed by the link in the report clarifies the procedure 

to be followed in applying the relief and sets out in detail the types of property eligible 
for the relief. As mentioned in the report eligibility is calculated on a daily basis, so it 

is important that when making an award authorities should ensure in the conditions of 
the award that the relief is subject to the property’s continuing eligibility. 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: David Eden – Finance Manager 

The National Non-Domestic Rates Return 1 for 2023/24 that sets the business rates 

budget for the year included an estimated cost for the relief of £7,564,071. As this 

Page 7



 7 

was included within the return, the council will receive on account section 31 grant 
payments throughout 2023/24 to compensate the authority for its 99% share of the 
cost of the relief. The actual outturn cost of the relief for 2023/24 will be reported in 

the National Non-Domestic Rates Return 3 with any difference to the original 
estimate resulting in either additional section 31 grant being due to the authority or 

having to be repaid to the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities. 
Therefore, as long as all of the requirements in the guidance for the awarding of the 
relief are followed, there should be no overall financial impact on the council. 

 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: NA 
 

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: NA 
 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: NA 
 

 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: NA 
 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: Jane Betts  TEL NO: 0161 793 2710 
 

 

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: All Wards  
 

Page 8



 1 

Part 1: Open to the Public 

 

REPORT OF  

Strategic Director of Service Reform   

 

TO 

 THE LEAD MEMBER FOR FINANCE AND SUPPORT SERVICES  
 

ON  

 
28 February 2023  

 

 

TITLE: 2023 Supporting Small Business Scheme  

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
The Lead Member is requested to approve the following: - 

 The arrangements for 2023 Supporting Small Business scheme using 

Local Authority discretionary relief powers under section 47 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988, to grant 2023 Supporting Small Business 

Relief. 

 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
On 17 November 2022, the government announced a new Supporting Small 

Business (SSB) relief scheme which will cap bill increases at £600 per year for any 
business losing eligibility for Small Business Rate Relief or Rural Rate Relief at the 

2023 revaluation. The scheme also provides support for those previously eligible for 
the 2022/23 SSB scheme and facing large increases in 2023/24 but in those cases 
for one further year only. 

 
As this is a measure for 2023/24 to 2025/26, the government will, in line with the 

eligibility criteria, reimburse local authorities that use their discretionary relief powers 
under section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, to grant Supporting 
Small Business Relief.  

Page 9

Agenda Item 3b



 2 

 
It is for individual local billing authorities to adopt a local scheme and determine in 
each individual case when, having regard to government guidance, to grant relief 

under section 47. The government will fully reimburse local authorities for their loss in 
income under the rates retention scheme as a result of awarding the relief, using a 

grant under section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003. 
 
The government expects billing authorities to apply and grant relief to qualifying 

ratepayers from the start of the 2023/24 billing year  
 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 
2023 Supporting Small Business Relief  
 

Business Rates Relief: 2023 Supporting Small Business Relief, local authority 
guidance - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

 

KEY DECISION: NO 
 

 

DETAILS:  
 
Supporting Small Business Relief will help those ratepayers who because of the 

change in their rateable value at the 2023 revaluation are losing some or all of their 
Small Business relief and those previously eligible for the 2022/23 SSB scheme and 
facing large increases in 2023/24 

 
2023 Supporting Small Business (SSB) scheme will cap bill increases at £600 per 

year for 2023/24 to 2025/26. SSB was first introduced at the 2017 revaluation to 
support ratepayers facing bill increases greater than the Transitional Relief caps due 
to loss of Small Business Rate Relief or Rural Rate Relief.  

 
The government will fully reimburse local authorities for their loss in income under the 

rates retention scheme as a result of awarding the relief, using a grant under section 
31 of the Local Government Act 2003. 
 

2023 Supporting Small Business Relief applies to hereditaments: - 
 

 Where the chargeable amount for 1April 2023 would be more than £600.00 
higher than the chargeable amount for 31 March 2023  

 

 Previously eligible for 2022/23 Supporting Small Business relief for small 
and medium properties  

 
 

Hereditaments not eligible to 2023 Supporting Small Business relief: - 

Page 10

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-relief-2023-supporting-small-business-relief-local-authority-guidance/business-rates-relief-2023-supporting-small-business-relief-local-authority-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-relief-2023-supporting-small-business-relief-local-authority-guidance/business-rates-relief-2023-supporting-small-business-relief-local-authority-guidance


 3 

 

 Eligible for Charity or Community Amateur Sports Club relief  
 

 Unoccupied  
 

Regulations made under section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 
authorities must give at least 12 months’ notice of a revocation or variation of a rate 
relief scheme the effect of which would be to increase rate bills (other than to comply 

with any international agreement). Such a revocation or variation can only take effect 
at the end of a financial year but, within these regulations, local authorities may still 

make decisions which are conditional upon eligibility criteria. If a change in 
circumstances renders a property ineligible or reduces the value of the award, the 
relevant bill can be amended in the year to reflect the loss of the relief.  

 
Therefore, when making an award for 2023 Supporting Small Business Relief, we will 

be ensuring in the conditions of the award that the relief are subject to the property’s 
continuing eligibility 
 

Our software providers NEC Software Solutions have announced due to the 
complexity (and late receipt of any guidance), the software changes for 2023 

Supporting Small Business will not be made available until week commencing 20th 
February 2023.  

In the event that the software is not delivered in time for annual billing, processes 

have already been put in place identifying accounts that could potentially be entitled 
to the new 2023 Supporting Small Business relief, software functionality is available 
to suppress start of year bills, and the ability to supress payments due to be collected 

by Direct Debit pending the award of 2023 Supporting Small Business relief.  

 
Estimated cost of the scheme in 2023/24   

 

The government will reimburse the authority for loss of income under the rates 
retention scheme because of awarding the relief. Billing authorities will be provided 

with “on-account” s.31 payments covering the full amount of relief awarded, to ensure 
that cash flow is not affected.  

 
Salford City Council have already provided an estimate of our likely cost for providing 
the relief in our National Non-Domestic Rate Return 1 (NNDR1) for 2023/24 this was 

submitted 31.1.23. We will be asked to provide outturn data on the actual cost for 
providing the relief via National Non-Domestic Rate Return 3 (NNDR3). Any 

reconciliation will be carried out at this point.  
 
 

   

Relief Type  
Current Case 
Load   

Value of 
Award  

2023 Supporting Small Business 

(SSB) 

368 £1,116,873 

 

   

Page 11



 4 

   

   

 
Subsidy Control  
 

The 2023 Supporting Small Business (SSB) is likely to amount to a subsidy. Any 
relief provided by Local Authorities under this scheme will need to comply with the 

UK’s domestic and international subsidy control obligations. The new UK subsidy 
control regime commenced on 4 January 2023. 
 

To administer a subsidy under the Minimal Financial Assistance thresholds it is 
necessary for the Local Authority to establish that the award of subsidy will not result 

in the economic actor having received more than £315,000 in a three-year period 
2023/2024 financial year and the two previous years  
 

Where it is clear to the local authority that the ratepayer is likely to breach the 
Minimal Financial Assistance limit then the authority should automatically withhold 

the relief. 

 
Local authorities may include the relief in bills and ask the ratepayers, on a self-

assessment basis, to inform the authority if they are in breach of the Minimal 
Financial Assistance limit. 
 

Minimal Financial Assistance subsidies above £100,000 are subject to transparency 
requirements. This is not cumulated per beneficiary but applies per subsidy award. 

This means that for every individual subsidy provided of more than £100,000, the 
local authority needs to include details of the subsidy on the subsidy control 
database. 

 
 

Communication  
 

We will be notifying ratepayers of the award of the 2023 Support Small Business 
relief. We will be awarding the Relief in bills and will ask the ratepayers, on a self-

assessment basis, to inform the authority if they are in breach of the Small Amounts 
of Financial Assistance subsidy. 
 

There will also be a relief refusal form made available for businesses who:  

 have received more than the Minimal Financial Assistance limit of £315,000 

over three years (including 2023/24) 

 
The Website will be updated, and we will keep refreshing and updating as 

appropriate  
 

Social media posts will be scheduled, and we will be tagging in various business 
organisations to share 
 

We are working on designs for the community digital boards across the city 
promoting business support  

Page 12



 5 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION  

 

Using Local Authority discretionary relief powers under section 47 of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1988, to grant 2023 Supporting Small Business Relief to 
identified properties.  

 

Include the 2023 Supporting Small Business Relief in 2023/2024 start of year bill and 
ask the ratepayers, on a self-assessment basis, to inform the authority if they are in 

breach of the Minimal Financial Assistance limit. 
 
In accordance with Section 2(1) (a) of the National Non-Domestic Rating 

(Discretionary Relief) Regulations 1989, make it clear that the conditions of the 
award are subject to the property’s continuing eligibility.  

 

Adopting this approach will allow the authority to issue an accurate 2023/24 bill to 
eligible businesses at the start of the financial year and provide awareness of 

entitlement. Also making available a Minimal Financial Assistance limit declaration, 
discharges the Local Authority responsibility. The administration of the scheme 

presented complies with the requirements of the Government Guidance.  

If our software providers NEC Software Solutions have to delay the delivery of the 
software due to the complexity of the scheme processes have already been put in 
place identifying accounts that could potentially be entitled to the 2023 Supporting 

Small business relief. There is functionality within the software that allows the 
suppression of the start of year bill, and the ability to supress payments due to be 

collected by Direct Debit pending the award of 2023 Supporting Small Business 
Relief.  

Adopting this approach will allow the authority to issue a correct start of financial year 
2023/24 bill to eligible businesses and provide awareness of entitlement. The 

administration of the scheme complies with the requirements of the Government 
Guidance. 

Provides an alternative instalment arrangement for ratepayers which spreads the 
liability for the period from bill issue over the remaining months of the year taking into 
consideration the delay issuing a correct start of year bill.  

 
Milestones  

 

 28.02.23 Approval of scheme ELMB Finance and Support Services and 

Workforce and Industrial Relations     

 28.02.23 Publish Details of the 2023 Supporting Small Business Relief 
scheme on our webpage 

 09.03.23 Complete Business Rates Annual Billing. 

 Date (Subject to software providers) using our discretionary relief powers 

under section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, to grant 2023 
Supporting Small Business Relief 

Page 13



 6 

 Date (Subject to software providers) issue start of year bill reflecting 2023 
Supporting Small Business Relief and ask the ratepayers, on a self-
assessment basis, to inform the authority if they are in breach of the Minimal 

Financial Assistance limit. 

 Date (Subject to software providers) Notify Identified eligible businesses of the 

new 2023 Supporting Small Business Relief scheme eligibility and award 
process with start of year bill 

 Ongoing improve awareness and access to 2023 Supporting Small Business 

Relief  
 

 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  

 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: Rachel Todd Policy 

and Equality Officer  

Reaching out to local businesses to inform them of the availability of the 2023 
Supporting Small Business relief scheme does not disproportionately negatively 

affect people with protected characteristics.  
 

Business owners from certain religious groups may use online and electronic 
communications less than other businesses but the Business Rates team is 

mitigating the risk of not reaching people by contacting eligible businesses by letter 
and using other approaches rather than relying purely on an online promotion. This 
will also be suitable for older business owners who prefer personal contact over 

online.  
 

The Business Rates team has not found language to be a barrier to communication 
with business owners so far, but the council does commission translation services 
where these are necessary. 

 
Small businesses are being actively contacted to ensure they receive support they 

are eligible for so those on low incomes who run businesses are positively impacted. 
 

The variety of methods of contact already used or planned to be used will mitigate 

the risk of not reaching people from particular backgrounds or those who may not be 
able to use certain methods of application due to vision or hearing impairment.  

 

 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  
Failure to support Businesses and issue an inaccurate 2023/2024 bill to eligible businesses 
at the start of the financial year  

 

 

Page 14



 7 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Nicky Smith, Senior Solicitor 

The report explains how the 2023 Small Business Relief scheme will be administered 
in accordance with Government guidance. It should be noted that in the event of a 
change in circumstances which may render a property ineligible for the relief during 

the year the relevant rates bill can be amended. The guidance suggests, therefore, 
that when making an award, authorities should ensure that the conditions of the 

award make it clear that the relief is subject to the property’s continuing eligibility.     

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: David Eden – Finance Manager 

 
The National Non-Domestic Rates Return 1 for 2023/24 that sets the business rates 

budget for the year included an estimated cost for the relief of £1,116,873. As this 
was included within the return, the council will receive on account section 31 grant 

payments throughout 2023/24 to compensate the authority for its 99% share of the 
cost of the reliefs. The actual outturn cost of the relief for 2023/24 will be reported in 
the National Non-Domestic Rates Return 3 with any difference to the original 

estimate resulting in either additional section 31 grant being due to the authority or 
having to be repaid to the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities. 

Therefore, as long as all of the requirements in the guidance for the awarding of the 
relief are followed, there should be no overall financial impact on the council.

 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: NA 
 

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: NA 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: NA 

 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: NA 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: Jane Betts  TEL NO: 0161 793 2710 

 

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: All Wards  
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 15



 1 

Part 1: Open to the Public 

 

REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR OF 

SERVICE REFORM 

 

TO THE LEAD MEMBER FOR  

FINANCE AND SUPPORT SERVICES 

ON  

28th FEBRUARY 2023 

 

TITLE: FORMER TENANTS’ ARREARS WRITE OFF 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
It is recommended that the Lead Member: 

 

 Approves the debt write off of former tenants’ arrears to the value of 

£203,913.58 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
This report sets out the current position on former tenants’ arrears and makes a  

recommendation to Lead Member to write off a value of £203,913.58 in relation to 120 
cases. 
 

 
 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 

 Pendleton Together account statements 

 HRA Business Plan 

 

KEY DECISION: No 
 

 

Page 16

Agenda Item 3c



 2 

 

1 Introduction 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to request the formal approval from Lead Member 
for the write off of former tenant arrears debts. 

2 Former Tenants Arrears 

2.1 During the 2021/22 financial year a number of former tenants’ arrears have 
become unrecoverable and Pendleton Together have advised that following 

their internal debt recovery process it would be advisable to write off 
£203,913.58 in relation to 120 cases. 

 
2.2 A large number of the debts are legacy cases from pre-2017 which have now 

exhausted recovery attempts, including attempts via a new debt collection 

agency in 2021. 
 

2.3 Write Offs are split into two categories: 
 

 Write offs – where Pendleton Together will not be able to collect in the 

future (deceased with no estate, gone into care home etc);  
 

 Write offs ‘collectable’ – Pendleton Together could still collect when 
former tenants reapply for housing with Together Housing Association 
in the future 

 
The table below provides a summary of the proposed write off cases 

 Under £5,000 Over £5,000 Total 

    

Write Off £30,566.59 
(37 cases) 

£20,549.39 
(3 cases) 

£51,115.98 
(40 cases) 

Write Off 
‘Collectable’ 

£107,110.45 
(73 cases) 

£45,687.15 
(7 cases) 

£152,797.60 
(80 cases) 

 

2.4 Further details with regards to these former tenants’ arrears are identified 
within Appendix 1 of this report (Pendleton Together report on Salford Write 
Offs). 

2.5 Pendleton Together have a robust internal debt recovery process which they 
follow.  This can be seen in Appendix 2. 

 
2.6 The annual FTA figure since contract commencement in 2013 is outlined in 

the table below 

 
  
 
 

Page 17



 3 

 
 
 
 
 

 

* NB this was cleared from accounts in April 2022 

 

3 Recommendation 

3.1 The Lead Member for Finance is requested to:- 

 Approve the former tenant arrears debt write off totalling £203,913.58 

 
 

 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  
 
2022/23 HRA Budget 

 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:  

N/A 

 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: Low 
 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 
 

Year FTA  FTA Write-
Off 

13/14 43,532  

14/15 163,529  

15/16 243,696  

16/17 264,239 41,201.82 

17/18 327,209  

18/19 389,062  

19/20 430,368 40,209.84 

20/21 441,454  

21/22 477,662 146,815.96* 

22/23   

Page 18



 4 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: This report concerns key 

aspects of the Council’s revenue finances and has been produced by the Finance 
division. 

 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: 

 
Place – Andrew Leigh Head of Housing & Strategy  

 

CONTACT OFFICER: Paul Hutchings – Head of Financial Management 

Paul.Hutchings@salford.gov.uk 
 

 
 

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: Pendleton & Charlestown 

 
  

Page 19



 5 

Appendix 1 
 
Pendleton Together report on Salford Write Offs – 120 cases 
 

tency seq no res 
vacn 

cur tncy 
bal 

7013353 DECEAS     £0.30 

7020193 FUTUNK     £7.04 

6000920 TRANSF     £30.83 

7032125 MOVFAM     £36.87 

7020525 FUTUNK     £36.88 

7014979 ABAND      £43.39 

6000458 ABAND      £96.69 

6001008 ABAND      £98.94 

7019092 MOVPRI     £100.00 

6001042 LARENT     £102.85 

6000017 FUTUNK     £103.72 

7030489 DECEAS     £107.70 

6001425 DECEAS     £109.56 

6000908 EVIASB     £114.81 

6001394 DECEAS     £117.08 

7029202 MOVFAM     £121.96 

6000843 TRANSF     £147.82 

6000168 DECEAS     £152.11 

6000123 HARENT     £156.82 

6000225 DECEAS     £158.45 

6000990 MOVRES     £194.70 

6001075 DECEAS     £198.02 

Page 20



 6 

6000437 FUTUNK     £202.61 

7025835 MOVFAM     £208.92 

6001086 TRANSF     £217.11 

6000540 DECEAS     £227.50 

7014167 FUTUNK     £230.85 

6000490 TRANSF     £243.56 

6001354 MOVRES     £254.10 

6000628 TRANSF     £286.27 

6001421 DECEAS     £293.46 

6000748 DECEAS     £301.71 

6000740 FUTUNK     £307.96 

6001186 DECEAS     £309.08 

6000191 TRANSF     £310.35 

7009732 FUTUNK     £313.33 

7026134 NEVER      £324.32 

7012839 HARENT     £334.96 

6000627 DECEAS     £340.97 

6000433 FUTUNK     £350.84 

6000955 DECEAS     £358.50 

7010859 TRANSF     £358.74 

6000280 MOVRES     £359.80 

6000454 FUTUNK     £368.35 

7011837 MOVFAM     £376.62 

7011240 MOVARE     £388.51 

6001052 FUTUNK     £390.77 

6000956 HARENT     £426.44 

Page 21



 7 

6000863 DECEAS     £438.50 

6001265 TRANSF     £442.42 

6001310 FUTUNK     £450.64 

6000019 FUTUNK     £471.80 

6000148 FUTUNK     £478.15 

6001266 FUTUNK     £495.75 

6000051 FUTUNK     £521.17 

6000612 MOVRES     £547.25 

6000841 FUTUNK     £563.43 

6000415 TRANSF     £567.36 

6000543 MOVPAR     £620.46 

6000487 FUTUNK     £641.92 

6001101 TRANSF     £654.70 

6000295 DECEAS     £682.50 

6000963 FUTUNK     £721.25 

6000173 TRANSF     £737.72 

6000471 DECEAS     £751.90 

7013358 ABAND      £782.32 

6000606 HARENT     £930.29 

6000670 PRISON     £1,073.07 

7021493 MOVFAM     £1,084.74 

6000429 ABAND      £1,115.40 

6000587 ABAND      £1,123.54 

6000675 ABAND      £1,140.23 

6000900 FUTUNK     £1,291.49 

6000943 FUTUNK     £1,557.63 

Page 22



 8 

6001144 ABAND      £1,578.71 

6001451 TRANSF     £1,578.99 

6000231 BOUGHT     £1,609.72 

6001135 HARENT     £1,626.83 

6000962 ABAND      £1,685.22 

7028819 EVIARR     £1,711.72 

7030902 FUTUNK     £1,712.80 

7028193 MOVPRI     £1,738.18 

6000341 FUTUNK     £1,757.29 

6000852 ABAND      £1,842.48 

7035290 PRISON     £1,872.51 

6001083 DECEAS     £2,023.50 

6000038 ABAND      £2,152.10 

7027374 MOVARE     £2,235.42 

6000047 ABAND      £2,308.63 

7026136 ABAND      £2,732.44 

7013775 EVIARR     £2,744.33 

7013788 FUTUNK     £2,859.80 

6001263 MOVFAM     £2,871.29 

7014219 ABAND      £3,171.52 

6000641 ABAND      £3,219.63 

7017979 MOVARE     £3,408.50 

6000791 EVIARR     £3,516.84 

6000512 EVIARR     £3,574.72 

6001268 FUTUNK     £3,606.43 

6000619 EVIARR     £3,905.75 

Page 23



 9 

7034926 ABAND      £3,951.32 

6000745 EVIARR     £4,028.64 

6000308 DECEAS     £4,225.17 

6000023 ABAND      £4,256.91 

7011097 EVIARR     £4,348.26 

6001383 EVIARR     £4,592.55 

7013573 EVIARR     £4,595.88 

7010613 PRISON     £4,629.45 

6000531 ABAND      £4,874.58 

6001182 ABAND      £4,921.13 

7013415 EVIARR     £5,461.71 

6000585 EVIARR     £5,466.77 

7014157 EVIARR     £5,871.62 

6000882 EVIARR     £6,246.77 

7011142 ABAND      £6,479.16 

6000298 FUTUNK     £6,812.75 

6000560 MOVRES     £7,186.25 

6000596 EVIARR     £7,257.48 

6000067 ABAND      £7,461.45 

6000755 EVIARR     £7,992.58 

 
 

Summary of cases to be written off over £2,500 are outlined in the table below: 

 
Address  Balance  commentary 

current  
commentary former  

Thorn Court  £2,732.44  Abandoned 
property  

Been through process x2 including 
tracing and debt collection. 
Uneconomical to continue to pursue.  

Holm Court  £2,744.33  Keys surrendered 
when warrant for 
eviction applied 
for.  

Been through process x2 including 
tracing and debt collection. 
Uneconomical to continue to pursue.  

Sedan Close  £2,859.80  Tnt left following 
court application  

Been through process inc tracing x2 
and debt coll, unable to obtain 
payment; uneconomical to pursue  

Spruce Court  £2,871.29  Outright 
possession 
granted 2019  

Been through process inc tracing x2 
and debt coll, unable to obtain 
payment; uneconomical to pursue  

Plane Court  £3,171.52  Abandoned in 
2016  

Statute barred; unable to trace  

Page 24



 10 

Spruce Court  £3,219.63  Abandoned in 
2014  

Statute barred; unable to trace  

Salix Court  £3,408.50  Suspended 
possession order 
obtained and 
breached 2019; 
tnt absconded  

Process exhausted inc tracing and debt 
collection.  

Spruce Court  £3,516.84  evicted in 2015  Statute barred debt; been through 
process including tracing and debt 
collection and unable to gain payment.  

Spruce Court  £3,574.72  evicted in 2015  Unable to trace; statute barrred debt  
Salix Court  £3,606.43  Tenancy 

surrendered in 
2015  

Gone away, unable to trace  

Ewart Avenue  £3,905.75  Evicted 2019  Been through process but gone away 
and unable to trace.  

Spruce Court  £3,951.32  Abandoned 2021  Unable to trace  

Graythorpe Walk  £4,028.64  Evicted in 2016  Been through process and no success  

Beech Court  £4,225.17  Tenant passed 
away in 2017  

Deceased tenant - no means to recover 
debt  

Spruce Court  £4,256.91  abandoned in 
2014  

Legacy case that has been through 
process more than once to no avail; 
debt statute barred.  

Spruce Court  £4,348.26  Evicted in 2016  Been through process more than once 
inc debt collection and tracing; 
uneconomical to pursue further. Debt 
statute barred.  

Graythorpe Walk  £4,592.55  evicted in 2015  Statute barred debt; been through 
process and unable to gain payment.  

Thorn Court  £4,595.88  Evicted in 2016  Been through process twice including 
debt recovery and tracing, unable to 
obtain payment or trace new details, 
uneconomical to continue to pursue.  

Whitebeam Court  £4,629.45  Tenant 
imprisoned in 
2017  

Unable to trace  

Spruce Court  £4,874.58  abandoned in 
2016  

Been through process more than once; 
debt statute barred.  

Beech Court  £4,921.13  abandoned in 
2014  

Been through process multiple times 
and debt statute barred.  

Turnpike Green  £5,461.71  evicted in 2018  Been through process more than once 
inc debt collection and tracing; 
uneconomical to pursue further.  

Spruce Court  £5,466.77  evicted in 2015  Been through process multiple times 
including tracing and debt collection; 
uneconomical to continue to pursue. 
Statute barred debt.  

Spruce Court  £5,871.62  evicted in 2017  Been through process multiple times 
including tracing and debt collection; 
uneconomical to continue to pursue  

Ewart Avenue  £6,246.77  evicted in 2018  Been through process twice including 
debt recovery and tracing, unable to 
obtain payment, uneconomical to 
contine to pursue.  

Page 25



 11 

Spruce Court  £6,479.16  evicted in 2017  Been through process more than once 
including tracing and debt collection; no 
payments, uneconomical to further 
pursue. Over half of the debt accrued 
after NTQ expiry when an unauthorised 
occupier related to the tenant was at 
the property.  

Spruce Court  £6,812.75  evicted in 2016  Been through process more than once 
including tracing and debt collection; no 
payments, uneconomical to further 
pursue. Debt statute barred.  

Beech Court  £7,186.25  moved into 
residential care in 
2014  

Process exhausted. Legacy dormant 
case. Debt statute barred.  

Spruce Court  £7,257.48  evicted in 2015  Process exhausted multiple times 
including following successful trace, 
debt collection agency have returned as 
uncollectable. Debt statute barred.  

Hornbeam Court  £7,461.45  abandoned in 
2014  

Case went through FTA process to 
exhaustion, a further trace was done 
and new details obtained, process 
followed at new address, sent to debt 
collection, returned from debt collection 
as unrecoverable. Debt statute barred.  

Sedan Close  £7,992.58  evicted in 2015  Dormant case, unable to trace 
customer. Debt statute barred.  

 
The extract below summaries total debt and average debt for each tenancy termination reason 
category leading to Former Tenant Arrears. 
 

Reason 
Code 

Reason Cases Total Debt (£) Average Debt 
per Case (£) 

ABAND Abandoned 21 55,035.79 2,620.75 
BOUGHT Bought own property 1 1,609.72 1,609.72 

DECEAS Deceased 18 10,796.01 599.78 
EVIARR Eviction Rent 15 71,315.62 4,754.37 

EVIASB Eviction ASB 1 114.81 114.81 
EVIILL Eviction of illegal 

Occupier 

0   

FUTUNK Future tenure 
unknown 

25 26,254.65 1,050.19 

HARENT Renting from another 
H/A 

5 3,475.34 695.07 

LARENT Renting from local 
authority landlord 

1 102.85 102.85 

MOVABR Moved abroad 3 6,032.43 2,010.81 

MOVARE Moved out of area 0   
MOVFAM Moved in with family / 

friends 
6 4,700.40 783.40 

MOVPAR Moved in with partner 1 620.46 620.46 
MOVPRI Moved to private 

rented 
2 1,838.18 919.09 

MOVRES Moved to residential 
home 

5 8,542.10 1,708.42 

Page 26



 12 

MUTXC Mutual Exchange 0   

NEVER Never moved in  324.32 324.32 
PRISON Gone to prison 3 7,575.03 2,525.01 

TRANSF Transfer 12 5,575.87 464.66 
 

 

Page 27



1        Version 1.4 August 2020  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
 

Former Tenancy Arrears 
Recovery Process 

 
 
 
         
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 28



2        Version 1.4 August 2020  

 

 

P
age 29



3        Version 1.4 August 2020  

 

Version Control Log  

THG FTA Process –Formal Review Date – June 2023   

Version number  and 

date 

Date 

effective 

from 

Lead   
Approved by  

(LT/SMT)  

Issued to THG Summary of Key changes  

V1 – June 2017 

 

 

 

19th June 

2017 

Caroline 

Thomas – 

Specialist 

Income 

Manager 

 

 Janette Pearce 

– Head of 

Income 

Specialist Income team 

Income team 

Tenancy sustainability 

and Welfare benefits team 

Lettings team 

Supported Housing 

Customer services 

Neighbourhoods 

Group-wide process (end-to-end), for use by Specialist Income 

Team with input from Customer Services, Lettings, 

Neighbourhoods, Welfare Benefits and Sustainable Tenancies 

Team and Current Tenancy Income Team 

  

V1.1 – October 2018 22nd 

October 

2018 

Caroline 

Thomas – 

Specialist 

Income 

Manager 

 

 Janette Pearce 

– Head of 

Income 

Specialist Income Team 

and on documotive for all 

other teams to access 

Additional wording at existing action stages to add in FTAINV 

action sequence and FTA12, 13, 14 action sequence. 

Amended authorisation levels for write offs as per recent 

changes to financial regulations. 

V1.2 – February 2019 19th 

February 

2019 

Francesca 

Hartley – 

Specialist 

Income 

Manager 

Janette Pearce 

– Head of 

Income 

Specialist Income Team 

and on documotive for all 

other teams to access 

Inclusion of new action codes – FTATRA, FTADRO & updated 

write off levels. 

Additional personal contact with outgoing tenant as first stage of 

FTA recovery process. 

Early settlement agreement process added as appendix 

Appendix of all codes used by SIT 

P
age 30



4        Version 1.4 August 2020  

 

V1.3 – November 

2019 

14th 

November 

2019 

Francesca 

Hartley- 

Specialist 

Income 

Manager 

Janette Pearce 

– Head of 

Income 

Specialist Income Team 

and on documotive for 

other teams to access  

Inclusion of FTARTR , FTAIVA & amendment of write off 

amounts for FTA08D code 

V1.4 – August 2020 17th 

August 

2020 

Caroline 

Thomas – 

Specialist 

Income 

Manager 

Janette Pearce 

– Head of 

Income 

Specialist Income Team 

and on documotive for 

other teams to access  

Amendment of Personal Contact to make it a formal Action 

Stage as per the new FTAPC1 and FTPCIN actions in QL; 

additional guidance on this action stage; amendment of FTA01 

as this is now an automated stage. 

Note added to state that as of April 2020 all debt collection 

action is on hold until further notice. 

P
age 31



5        Version 1.4 August 2020  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pre-Tenancy Stage 

 
Lettings Advisors 

 
 
On receipt of an application, a search will be done and any former tenancy accounts checked for debts.  The 
applicant will be advised that the debt must be paid in full prior to re-housing and the application will be suspended 
unless a satisfactory arrangement to pay is adhered to.  This does not include debts that are classed as statue 
barred – please refer these to SIT for clarification.  
 
Cases in arrears will be referred to the Specialist Income Team for arrangements to be made.  
 
 

KEY AIMS OF THE PROCESS – MAXIMISING INCOME BY RECOVERING MONIES OWED TO THA BY FORMER 

TENANTS 

Throughout the former tenancy arrears recovery process we have 4 key aims that are embedded within the THA Income collection 

processes, these are: 

• That QUALITY CONTACT should be attempted at key stages of the process.  This will enable us to have a good understanding of 

tenants’ personal circumstances.  It will allow us to gather information on a person’s needs and financial circumstances. 

 

• We will take a BALANCED APPROACH, ensuring we have support and enforcement.  We will provide advice to tenants to 

maximise income to place them in the best possible position to pay their debts.  We will always be clear and advise the tenants of 

the consequences if they fail to meet their rental obligations. 

 

• PROFILING – We will always ensure that household details are checked and questions are asked to identify whether there are any 

vulnerability issues or support needs.  

 

• We will be CLEAR AND CONCISE – Always ensure notes within QL are clear and concise so that any other staff member can 

understand them and note up clearly why a letter has been sent or contact attempted 

 

 

P
age 32



6        Version 1.4 August 2020  

 

 

Pre-Termination Stage 

 
Neighbourhood 
Administrator/ 
Customer service 
advisor 

 
On receipt of notice, add provisional termination of tenancy on QL 
 
Update forwarding address by copying forwarding address code in tenancy maintenance – always refer to the latest 
QL guide available on Documotive. NOK details also need to be added into the relevant sections. 
 
Discussion on rent liability until the end of the tenancy and clear notes to be added to rent account. (please refer to 
the Termination Guide) 

Neighbourhood 
Officer/ Supported 
Housing Officer/ 
Scheme Coordinator/ 
Independent Living 
Officer 

 
The Neighbourhood Officer or other relevant staff member will carry out pre-tenancy termination visit(s) 
 
During the visit the Neighbourhood Officer will advise the outgoing tenant: 

• Rent due up to end of tenancy to achieve a clear balance 

• Forwarding address needed & any other contact details such as telephone/email 

• If in receipt of Housing Benefit, advise HB will stop when they move out; must apply for overlap if needed 
 

NO to mention both rent outstanding and forwarding address at all contacts with the outgoing tenant until both 
resolved.  Forwarding address input onto QL. 

 
Tenancy 
Sustainability 
Advisor 

 
If a TSA is involved with a tenancy at the pre-termination stage, they will assist the tenant to ensure any arrears are 
cleared by the end of the tenancy or arrangements in place for payment including maximising income and applying 
for Housing Benefit overlap if applicable. 

 
Income Officer 
 
 
 

 
IO makes contact in pre-termination stage to ensure final balance cleared.  If court order in place, IO to discuss 
requirements of the court order following tenancy termination (i.e. money judgement). 
Advise re HB overlap & UC housing element end date dependent on when the termination falls within the 
assessment period. 

 
Neighbourhood 
Administrator/ 
Supported Housing 
Administrator 

 
Once keys received, terminate tenancy on QL.  Ensure forwarding address is copied into correspondence address. 
 
If tenant has passed away, ensure ‘deceased’ added into vacation reasons and NOK details added into 
correspondence address 
 

P
age 33



7        Version 1.4 August 2020  

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Any Contact (ALL STAFF) 
 
We will ascertain the following information and update on QL.  
 

• Contact Details 

• Current/ forwarding address 
 
Gathering this information may unearth circumstances which we are unaware of, e.g. debt problems and budgeting difficulties.  If you pick 
up on any circumstances which we can provide further help for you must make referrals or signpost as appropriate. Note it may be 
necessary to secure consent of the individual prior to referral. 
  
Referrals can be made at any stage during the arrears recovery process to the following organisations, or there may be local organisations 

that you have links to: You must ensure that you record the referral information on QL 

• Our in-house Welfare Benefits Service/ Sustainable Tenancy Service 

• Step Change for Debt problems 

• Local Credit Union 

• Illegal Money Lending Team 

• Citizens Advice Bureau/Advice for all/Age Concern etc 

Supported Housing – Care will be taken in dealing with former tenancy arrears in relation to supported housing if there are issues around 

capacity or a named advocate.  Efforts will be made to resolve these cases without use of the automated process and standard letters. 

 Linked policy, procedure and process documents :    

THG Cash handling Procedure       THG write-off Policy and Process     
THG Allocations & Lettings Policy and Procedure   THG write-on Policy and Process 
THG Refund Policy and Procedure     Toolbox guidance for MCOL, Attachment of Earnings,  
 THG Income Policy         dealing with bankruptcy, IVAs and DROs 
THG Income Collection Process 
THG Complaints Policy and Procedure 
THG Money laundering Policy 

THG Safeguarding Policies  

THG Data Protection Policy 

• Income/Expenditure Details 

• Disability/vulnerability issues 
 

P
age 34



8        Version 1.4 August 2020  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                   
 
 
  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FTA00 – No Action 

This action is automated and is the trigger to send a case up the correct 

recovery ladder.  An Action has to be present to allow an Activity to be 

created.  If a newly terminated tenancy does not have this action code it will 

not pull up on any arrears report 

FTA01 – Former Tenancy Arrears Letter 1 OR FTAINV Invoice 

An automated letter and email are sent on expiry of FTAPC1 if no payment has 

been made.  A rent statement will usually be enclosed with the letter. 

 

FTANFA  

This code will be generated if no forwarding 

address is held – add to FTATRA code for external 

tracing. 

Case enters into the automated process 

Check account(s) finalised 

• Final payment(s) posted 

• Final rent debit in line with tenancy end date (no adjustment pending) 

• Any HB outstanding or overpayments to pay back 

• Any other accounts relating to the same tenant – in debit or credit 

Death of tenant 

• NOK letters are not automated 

• Send FTA01B to NOK 

• Follow with FA02B, FTA03B if needed 

• Add write-off code if uncollectable (see 

appendix for codes) 

Internal trace – SIO/ SIA to check: 

• QL : all fields including CRM, tenancy 
maintenance, NOK details 

• Documotive – check original application form 
for previous addresses, family, workplace, 
friends, ex-partner etc 

• Input c/o address in correspondence address 
where possible and add FTA01 code 

• Check in applications for any other contact 
details 

 

Note:  Officer discretion whether to use the FTA01,02,03 

letter sequence or the more strongly worded, quicker 

escalating FTAINV invoice sequence 

FTAPC1 or FTPCIN - Personal Contact  
This is the first formal stage of the FTA recovery process and if it does not result in a 

payment, agreement or a discussion which causes us to put an account on hold, it initiates 
the automated letter/ email sequence. 

• Attempt personal contact with outgoing customer where possible and 
discuss outstanding debt – use all contact details held to attempt 
engagement 

• Always check customer’s circumstances and ensure help offered/ signposted 
if experiencing difficulties 

• Always try to secure full payment of the debt if appropriate to do so 

• Negotiate payment plan where required in line with guidance 

• If applicable, extend action expiry until after agreed payment date OR place 
account on hold according to circumstances 

P
age 35



9        Version 1.4 August 2020  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
              
 
 
 
    

FTA02 – Former Tenancy Arrears Letter 2 OR FTINV2 invoice 

reminder 

The second stage of the former tenancy arrears process and the first 

automated letter, this letter is auto-generated approximately 4 weeks 

after the FTA01 letter if no payment has been received. 

FTA03 – Former Tenancy Arrears Letter 3 OR FTINV3 final 

demand 

The third stage of the arrears process and the second automated 

letter, this letter is auto-generated if there have been no payments 

since the FTA02. 

 
 
 FTA03A – Refer to Debt Collection Agency 
 

The fourth stage of the arrears process and the third automated 
action code 

Q Drive 

Automated letters 

generate into Q drive 

Specialist Income 

Officers/ Assistant 

check Q drive 

regularly, print and 

send letters on 

headed ‘Income’ 

paper 

Each auto-generated 

action code also 

generates a text 

message and email.  

If desired, the text 

and email can still be 

sent to NFA cases 

and the letter deleted 

from Q drive – notes 

should be added to 

the account. 

Note:  The Specialist Income Team may use automated outbound calling 

for cases at any of the above action stages and FTA05 below to augment 

and compliment the letters, texts and emails sent. 

FTATRA – External Tracing 
 

Consider adding cases for external tracing before sending to debt recovery 
(Moorcroft) to check for up to date contact details & addresses. When cases 
are returned from tracing they will be uploaded under the code FTARTR 

Debt Relief Orders (DRO) 

If a customer has a DRO or IVA for the debt 

move case to action code FTADRO or 

FTAIVA and the expiry date will be when the 

order ends. Following this date the debt will 

then need to be added to the relevant 

uncollectable write off code. Any amount not 

included in the DRO can be recovered and 

also a joint tenant not named on the DRO can 

be chased to pay the debt 

A settlement agreement may be made at 

any point in the process at the SIO/SIM’s 

discretion, in line with the guidance 

attached as appendix C 

P
age 36



10        Version 1.4 August 2020  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                  
 
 
 
 
 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 

Recalls 

If a former tenant makes contact directly with THA to arrange payment after the case 

has been sent to debt collection, the case can be recalled from the debt collection 

agency but only if the tenant pays the debt in full. 

SIM or SIO sends an email to Moorcroft with the tenancy reference number, name and 

address and requests that the case is returned 

FTA04 – referred to debt collection agency 
 
This code indicates a case has been sent for debt collection to an external agency 
 
 

Report run for FTA03A code by Specialist Income Officer/ Assistant 

• Cases under £50 removed – write off code added  

• Cases where tenant engaging/ paying – removed from report – FTA00 code added  

• Sent to Moorcroft debt collection agency at agreed intervals 

Debts should only be recalled 

from debt collection if they are to 

be paid in full. 

If a customer wants to pay by 

arrangement, refer them back to 

the debt collection agency. 

Returned from Debt Collection – uncollectable 

Moorcroft send a monthly report of cases they have been unable to collect  

From April 2016 THA have used 

Moorcroft for debt collection. We still have 

a number of cases with legacy 

companies– Rossendale, Empress, 

Medina 

From April 2020 due to the covid-

19 pandemic, THA have placed 

debt collection on hold with 

Moorcroft and the relevant 

companies, with no new referrals 

and no action on cases held by 

the DCAs until further notice. 

P
age 37



11        Version 1.4 August 2020  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 
 
 

 
FTA08A 

 
FTA08B 

 
FTA08C 

 
FTA08D 

 
WRTDRO 

• Under £5000 

• Uncollectable (no 
possibility that 
tenant will apply for 
re-housing in future 
eg deceased/ gone 
into nursing home) 

• Over £5000 

• Uncollectable (no 
possibility that tenant 
will apply for re-
housing in future eg 
deceased/ gone into 
nursing home) 

• Under £5000 

• Collectable (may 
be collectable in 
future as tenant 
may apply for re-
housing in future) 

• Over £5000 

• Collectable (may be 
collectable in future 
as tenant may apply 
for re-housing in 
future) 

 

• Write off of 
amount subject 
to a Debt Relief 
Order  (this code 
can be used at 
any point in the 
process) 

FTA05 Returned from Debt Collection 

 
This code is added following receipt of the Moorcroft report on returned cases which the 

debt collection agency has been unable to collect. 
– these can then be added to the relevant write off code or FTATRA if further tracing 

would be beneficial. 
 

Refer to Write-off 

Code added to FTA account according to the below Note 

The following codes for write-off 

approval are no longer in use: 

FTA09, FTA10, FTA11 

Suggested good practise 

Toolbox for cases with a forwarding address 

but not paying satisfactorily and not with debt 

collection agency 

• No money judgement – apply via 

MCOL – see MCOL process map 

• Money judgement in place – working – 

attachment of earnings 

• Match funding/ settlements 

P
age 38



12        Version 1.4 August 2020  

 

 
                
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Write-off approval  
Specialist Income Manager produces quarterly in line with Write Off Procedure 

• Under £5000 – report to Head of Income 

• Over £5000 – report to Operations Committee 

Write-offs carried out in QL 

Specialist Income Manager produces report for Group ICT Systems Development Manager 

(Paul Byrom) to upload changes to accounts 

FTA12 or FTA12A – New address details received – written off debt 

Where we receive new address details for a former tenant whose debt has already written off 

(eg if they apply for re-housing), we will write to them to request payment of the debt using the 

FTA12 letter (applicant) or FTA12A (not applying for re-housing). 

 

Suggested good practise 

The email address and 

telephone number should 

also be updated if possible 

so that every method of 

contact can be used to 

reach the former tenant. 

FTA13 – Letter 2 - written off debt 

Where the debt has already been written off, we cannot use the FTA01, 02, 03 sequence of 

letters as the account balance must be manually entered onto the letter.  This letter is a 

manual equivalent of the letter 2 for use post-write off. 

 

FTA14 – Letter 3 - written off debt 

Where the debt has already been written off, we cannot use the FTA01, 02, 03 sequence of 

letters as the account balance must be manually entered onto the letter.  This letter is a 

manual equivalent of the letter 3 for use post-write off. 

P
age 39



13        Version 1.4 August 2020  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Written off debts – payments received 
 

In some cases we will receive payments against a debt that has previously been written off, which 
will be posted to the rent account and written back on as agreed. 

 
NB the whole debt is not written back on, only the amount paid off against it. 

FTA03A – Refer to Debt Collection Agency 
 

Any cases which have reached the expiry date of the FTA14 letter with 
no adequate payment arrangement in place can have the FTA03A 
action code added so they will be sent to debt collection 

P
age 40



14        Version 1.4 August 2020  

 

Appendix 1: FORMER TENANCY ARREARS 

Customer Contact Centre Processes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
          
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

Tenant calls to terminate tenancy 

Former tenant calls for 
refund of credit balance 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Relative phones 
to report death 
of tenant (where 
no surviving joint 
tenant) 
 

Former tenant calls regarding 
letter, text or email received from 
THA regarding a debt for a former 
tenancy 

Former tenant calls regarding letter 
received from debt collection 
agency (usually Moorcroft) 

Former tenant calls to query 
balance or request statement 

Ask for forwarding 
address and enter 
in tenancy details 

Do they 
wish to 
clear the 
debt in 
full? 

If unable to pay in full/ wish to make agreement, 
refer back to the debt collection agency. 
Moorcroft customer services: 0161 477 2970 

Confirm balance, produce 
statement, ask if they 
wish to make a payment 

Take payment.  If large amount, please let SI 

Team know! 

If unable to pay in full feel free to agree an 

arrangement and detail dates and amounts in 

your activity notes  

yes 

no 

Take payment.  In all cases, please let Specialist 

Income Team know! 

Do they 
wish to 
clear the 
debt in 
full? 

yes 

no 

Former Tenant Rent Account 

Contacts, in general: 

*Add activity in the rent 

account screen to record 

conversation–TELEIN 

*If action needed by SI team, 

please task to team tray 

*Identify by Tenancy 

Sequence number if possible 

*If Allpay card needed, please 

order 

*If customer wishes to set up 

Direct Debit or Standing 

Order, send relevant form 

*Ask former tenant for 

current address and contact 

details and update on the 

system 

*Please don’t add actions in 

the arrears screen 

In all cases, if in doubt, 

transfer to the Specialist 

Income team! 

We have a team task tray on 

QL and our team inbox is 

zzSMspecialistincometeam 

(internally) or 

specialistincometeam@toget

herhousing.co.uk 

01924-83-1014/1705/1004 

Advise customer of 
account balance which 
must be cleared before 
the tenancy ends 

Take payment 
if possible 

Did they pay by Direct 
Debit and if so, are their 
bank details still the same 

yes 

no 

Task to Specialist Income Team 
to process refund 

Advise customer they will need to 
write to us requesting the credit, 
with bank details and signature 

After offering condolences, advise that the rent will 
continue to be debited until the Sunday after keys are 
handed in (we don’t hold them to the 4 weeks’ 
notice).  If the tenant was in receipt of Housing 
Benefit, advise that this benefit stops the Sunday after 
the date of death. 

Follow usual process for terminating 
tenancy/ death of tenant as agreed 
with neighbourhoods and always 
record the date of death in notes 

Take payment or agree proposed arrangement – add 
details in an activity on the rents screen (no 
agreement too small!  SI Team will pick up any issues) Note – we still collect debts 

that have been written off so 

please check transactions and 

quote debt prior to write-off. 

P
age 41

mailto:specialistincometeam@togetherhousing.co.uk
mailto:specialistincometeam@togetherhousing.co.uk


15        Version 1.4 August 2020  

 

FTA Letter Process   

FTA00 No Action 

FTANFA Account with no forwarding address  

FTAPC1 Personal contact stage – telephone, email or text 

FTA01 Initial Arrears Letter (Automated and sent with rent 

statement), email sent at same time 

FTA02 2nd follow up letter (Automated), email sent at same 

time 

FTA03 3rd follow up letter (Automated), email sent at same 

time 

FTA03A Ready to be referred to debt collection  

FTA04 With debt collection 

FTA05 Returned from debt collection. 

FTA Invoice Process   

FTPCIN Personal contact stage – telephone, email or text 

FTAINV Initial Invoice letter (manual) 

FTINV2 2nd follow up letter (manual) 

FTINV3 3rd follow up letter (manual) 

Then follow from FT03A 

above.  

 

NOK Letters (E.g. deceased)  

FTA01B Deceased tenant – NOK letter send with statement 

P
age 42



16        Version 1.4 August 2020  

 

FTA02B As above, follow up letter.  

Write off Codes   

FTA08A Not collectable under £5000  

FTA08B Not collectable over £5000  

FTA08C Collectable under £5000 

FTA08D Collectable over £5000 

FTA08E Credit write off  

Write off – New contact 

details  

 

FTA12 Contact post-write off (eg, through lettings) 

FTA12A Contact post write off  (not through lettings) 

FTA13 2nd follow up letter 

FTA14 3rd follow up letter  

FTA Tracing 
 

FTATRA Account to be sent for tracing 

FTARTR Account returned from tracing 

Other Codes  

FTADRO FTA accounts subject to DRO  

FTAIVA FTA accounts subject to an IVA 

MCOL Process  

P
age 43



17        Version 1.4 August 2020  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MCOREF Referral for MCOL Process 

MCOPRE Pre-MCOL letter – 10 days waiting 

MCOL01 Letter of intent to claim  

MCOL14 (activity) 14 day reminder to respond to MCOL01 

MCOLAP (activity) Letter to advise we are registering at court 

MCOREG SIM has registered on MCOL 

MCOLAG Agreement made – to monitor payments 

MCOL03 CCJ Received 

MCOJUD Judgement applied for  

FTA Campaign Manager All Activity Codes 

CAMSUC FTA campaign successful call 

CAMPNO FTA Campaign no answer 

CAMPAY FTA campaign payment/arrangement 

CAMCLE FTA Campaign balance cleared 

  

P
age 44



18        Version 1.4 August 2020  

 

Debt Settlement guidance 

 

This can be used on accounts where the full settlement agreement can be made within 5 working days of the settlement being offered. 

 

To be used on debts over £100 (anything over £500 to be agreed by SIM) 

 

• Start negotiation at a reduction of 5% or 10% (total debt x 0.05 = 5% or total debt x 0.1 =10% - this is the amount you can deduct from the total). 
 

•  We will not go lower than 25% off the total debt. 
 

• Bear in mind the area they live in and the likelihood they may want re-housing in future – if Blackburn, Darwen or Calderdale where we own most of 
the social housing for example, the likelihood of them paying in full in future to secure re-housing is higher than in other areas – so you may not need 
to go as low on these ones.  Ask them about their current accommodation – this might give you an insight into whether they want to be re-housed.  

 

• Set a time limit for the amount to be cleared – start with immediate payment over the phone, if need be allow up to five working days.  
 

• Use FINSET activity – to show clearly that a final settlement has been agreed on the debt and detail exactly what will be paid and when. Follow up in 
writing to customer outlining the settlement and terms of the agreement.  
 

• Diarise to check payment made as agreed (unless you take it during the call). 
 

• Add to the correct FTA write off code as uncollectable: FTA08A for any debts under £5000 and FTA08B for any debts over £5000 
 

P
age 45



19        Version 1.4 August 2020  

 

 

How to order an Allpay card: 

1) Search address and go to CRM 

2) Check correct current address is in Correspondence Address 

3) Go to Rents screen 

4) Click Tenancy Maintenance button on right hand side 

5) Go to Add. Details tab (see below) 

 

6) Select drop down menu marker “AllPay Card Required” bottom right and change to “1 – Card Ordered” 

7) SAVE 

It’s quicker than tasking or emailing us! 

P
age 46



 1 

 Part 1 - Open to the Public 

 

 

 

 
 

REPORT OF THE CITY SOLICITOR AND MONITORING OFFICER 

 
 

TO LEAD MEMBER FOR FINANCE AND SUPPORT SERVICES 
 

ON  
 

28 February 2023 
 

___________________________________________________________________ 

 
TITLE: Ceremony Fees Review 

___________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:   

 
1. To agree the proposed fees set out in the tables at paragraphs 2.0 and 2.1 with an 

implementation date of 1 April 2024. 

2. To continue to offer Register Office Ceremonies at the statutory fee rate every 

Tuesday.  

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
This report sets out the proposal to increase fees from 1 April 2024 for Wedding Ceremonies 
in line with the tables at paragraphs 2.0 and 2.1 of this report.  In reaching these proposals 
benchmarking with other authorities has been undertaken and the Councils policies and 
procedures have been considered.  In order to ensure that these fees are in line with the 
Council’s anti-poverty strategy, the proposals include the continuation of the offer of a 
Register Office Ceremony every Tuesday for the statutory fee of £57. 

 

 
 

KEY DECISION: No 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

ON THE FORWARD PLAN: N/A 
 

 
DETAILS: 
  
1. Background 
 
 

Page 47

Agenda Item 3d



 2 

1.1 Ceremony fees under the remit of the Council are reviewed historically every 3 – 4 

years, whereby the usual increase has been between £10 - £20 per ceremony fee.  

The fees review is due from April 2024 onwards, and the fees recommended take into 

account a previous reduction to fees during the pandemic, plus a ‘price freeze’ for this 

current financial year.  The fee structure below therefore, considers appropriate rises 

in fees and ensures ‘middle average’ costs to customers due to all GM authorities 

currently reviewing ceremony fees for 2023/24 financial year.  

1.2 Many customers choose to book ceremonies 2 to 3 years in advance and with a clear 
fee strategy, it is of benefit to our customer’s expectations in their own financial 
planning.  It is necessary therefore, to have the fee structure in place and advertise 
this.  Many authorities choose to review fees annually but with a 2-to-3-year strategy 
where customers are duly informed of fees in advance promotes bookings and clarity 
of costs. This also links with business planning objectives which include system 
developments to allow advance bookings and payments online. 

 
 
1.3 The strategy adopted for generating income is with the increase of venues licenced to 

hold legal ceremonies, and increase in the volume of ceremonies, by offering 
competitive prices, with improved choices for our customers to personalise their 
ceremonies.  Apart from a current quality Ceremony Room at the Town Hall, the 
access with car parking is a major selling point, complete with lawned areas for 
photographs.  This is something many of the neighbouring authorities do not have, 
some of which have already set fees much higher than at Salford. 

 
1.4 The next fees review which will be due early 2026 to determine feasibility of a further 

increase after this fixed period, due to the proposed move of service to Buile Hill 
Mansion. Fixing fees until this time will determine any affect the relocation has for 
ceremony demand but should also encourage bookings at a relocated space (prior to 
opening) by using promotional materials for a new designer room and building on 
reputation at the new Register Office housed within a vast green park area.   This will 
also be an opportunity to extend services with Sunday openings to include baby 
naming and renewal of vows ceremonies. 

 
 
1.5 The statutory fee for a Register Office ceremony is offered every Tuesday with a 

higher availability than most other GM Authorities.  Each authority is legally obliged to 
offer this ceremony, however, the provision is very limited in neighbouring authorities, 
for example, offering 1 or 2 slots per week in the morning.  Salford therefore is not 
only accommodating Salford residents but those from neighbouring districts as 
couples can choose to marry at any Register Office.   

1.6 This means Salford is still addressing the anti-poverty strategy and offering more 
ceremonies at a much cheaper rate.  The fee for this ceremony including the 
certificate is £57.00.  Therefore, the fees review for all other ceremonies, whereby the 
Council is responsible for setting these fees, is timely and equitable given a pay 
freeze was adopted during the pandemic, and a reduced fee for a 12-month period 
was also authorised.   The fees set at the last increase report in 2019 set a maximum 
of £20 per ceremony and given the rate of inflation and comparison fees set by other 
Local Authorities, the advance notice of proposed increase in fees will manage 
customer expectations and demonstrate a reasonable increase rate.   

Page 48



 3 

1.7 With the changes in Immigration Law following Brexit, there is also an increased 
demand for the statutory ceremony for all non-UK nationals, and this type of 
ceremony is chosen to facilitate immigration rules – notices at Salford where one or 
both partners are not British nationals has increased from 17% in 2021/22 to 28% in 
2022/23.  Subsequently, this has meant bookings for the statutory ceremony has 
increased due to the availability at Salford as opposed to waiting for longer periods 
for availability within neighbouring districts.    Coupled with this, faith groups also 
choose the statutory ceremony as many hold their own religious ceremonies that may 
not be recognised under UK law.  It is very important therefore that this provision 
remains promoting inclusion for all the separate groups (alongside low-income 
groups)  

1.8 An equalities impact assessment has also been completed to support the 
 recommendations within the report. 

1.9 The table of proposed fees alongside current fees charged at Salford is shown in the 
benchmarking tables below.  Also detailed is the Northwest Group average fee 
currently in place for 2022/23 which demonstrates that by 2024 Salford fees set will 
remain affordable and competitive.  

Page 49



 4 

2.0 CEREMONY FEES REVIEW BENCHMARKING FIGURES FEBRUARY 2023 
 
APPROVED PREMISES FEES – LOCAL AUTHORITIES  
 

AREA Mon to 
Thur 

Fri Sat Sun Bank 
Hol 

BLACKBURN £349.00 £369.00 £419.00 £479.00 £479.00 
BOLTON 
 

£345.00 £375.00 £395.00 £425.00 £425.00 

BURY 
 

£370.00 £370.00 £370.00 £370.00 £370.00 

MCR 
 

£500.00 £500.00 £600.00 £700.00 £700.00 

OLDHAM 
 

£380.00 £405.00 £405.00 £460.00 £460.00 

ROCHDALE 
 

£407.00 £407.00 £431.00 £459.00 £459.00 

SALFORD 
Current  
 

£310.00 £360.00 
 
 

£390.00 
 
 

£420.00 
 
 

£420.00 
 
 

STOCKPORT 
 

£350.00 £430.00 £480.00 £500.00 £1000.00 

TAMESIDE 
 

£332.00 £332.00 £332.00 £332.00 £332.00 

TRAFFORD 
 

£390.00 £445.00 £445.00 £495.00 £495.00 

WARRINGTON £435.00 £495.00 £495.00 £550.00 £595.00 
WIGAN 
 

£420.00 £450.00 £475.00 £510.00 £550.00 

AVERAGE FEES £382.00 £411.00 £436.00 £475.00 £524.00 
SALFORD  
Proposed Fees 

£450 
(+30%) 

£450 
(+20%) 

£550 
(+30%) 

£550 
(+24%) 

£550 
(+24%) 

Increase due 
April 2024 

Due to 12 month lead in for new fees average will 
be in line with other authorities/rate of inflation 

 
 
New fees and average by 2024 (this average will increase due to other authorities 
increasing fees by 2024) 
 
 
The lowest/highest fees currently across GM Authorities for Approved Venues are  

 GM fees £332 - £1000  Salford proposed fees £450 - £550 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 50



 5 

2.1 DECOMMISSONED ROOMS (CEREMONY ROOM) LOCAL AUTHORITIES 
FEBRUARY 2023 

 

AREA DECOMMISSIONED ROOMS  
Mon-Thur Fri Sat Sun/BH 

BLACKBURN £159.00 £189.00 £239.00 £479 
BOLTON £140.00 £175.00 £225.00  
BURY £140.00 £140.00 £140.00 £140.00 
MCR £225.00 £225.00 £360.00 --- 
OLDHAM £199.00 £222.00 £405.00 £456.00 
ROCHDALE £129.00 £156.00 £194.00 £256.00 
SALFORD 
Current 

£170.00 
 

£190.00 
 
 

£240.00 
 

---- 

STOCKPORT £170.00 £250.00 £300.00 ---- 
TAMESIDE ------ ------- ------- ------- 
TRAFFORD £180.00 £260.00 £340.00 ----- 
WARRINGTON £180.00 £180.00 £205.00 ----- 
WIGAN £260.00 £260.00 £345.00 ------ 
AVERAGE £177.00 £204.00 £272.00 **£332.00 

SALFORD 
Proposed Fees 

£220 
(+23%) 

£220.00 
(+14%) 

 

£300 
(+20%) 

Tbc when 
dates for 
mansion 
avail  

Based on April 
2024 and 
mansion fees 
for move  
 

Due to 12 month lead in for new fees proposed 
increase will become in line with average and 
inflation 

 
 
The lowest/highest fees currently across GM Authorities for LA Ceremony Rooms are  

 GM fees £140 - £456  Salford proposed fees £220 - £300 

 
__________________________________________________________________________ 
RISKS 
 
Assessed within the Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) and no significant impact on low-
income groups/ race/religion.  The EIA has been published with this report. 
 
__________________________________________________________________________ 
 
KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  N/A 
 

 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS   Forms part of the income generation strategy for the 
office, whilst still remaining at a competitive level across the GM Authorities 

 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 51



 6 

 
PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 
 
__________________________________________________________________________ 
 
HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:  N/A   
 

 
 
OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED:  N/A 
 
__________________________________________________________________________ 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Rebecca K Wardley    TEL NO: 0161 603 6880 

 
 
WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES:  ALL  
__________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 52



1 
 

 

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 

Title of proposal: Ceremony Fees Review 

Service Group/ Team: Register Office, Legal And Governance 

Date of assessment: 13 February 2023 

Lead EIA Officer: Rebecca Wardley 

Officers in Assessment Team: Andrea Hodges, Leanne Nutter 

Review date: 13 February 2025 

The findings of your EIA MUST be included within the report for decision and 
this document attached as evidence of your consideration of potential impact 

on communities. 

Summary of Equality Impact Assessment 

Ceremony fees are set and reviewed by the Local Authority and are implemented 
usually for a 3- year period before further review.   This review is due for a fee 
increase to commence from April 2024 and it is proposed to increase ceremony fees 

for attendance of registrars’ both at Approved Premises and within the Register 
Office ceremony rooms.  These fees are separate from the statutory ceremony fee 

that is still provided by the service and is set by central government (General 
Register Office) 

How did you approach the EIA and what did you find? 

In assessing the proposed fees a benchmarking exercise was undertaken across the 
Greater Manchester authorities to determine appropriate rates and to ensure no 

negative impact would be applicable to our customers.  

The current fees across Greater Manchester (including Salford) with the average 
calculated are shown in the document below alongside the new proposed fees.  

CEREMONY FEES 

REVIEW BENCHMARKING DOCUMENT JANUARY 2023.doc
 

Given a pay freeze was undertaken during the pandemic and very low increases 
previously undertaken, the new proposed fees are equitable and fair taking into 

account the percentage increase proposed is the first significant rise in three years 
by the local authority.   

Page 53



2 
 

As a highlighted comparison for fees figures below show the lowest and highest fees 
set up to March 2023 across the GM authorities: - 

Ceremony Room Fees 

 £140 - £456  Salford proposed fees £220 - £300 

Approved Premise Fees 

 £332 - £1000  Salford proposed fees £450 - £550 

On determining the level of the fees and simplifying the structure of payments 
(removing a tiered payment level dependent on the day as demand is very low for 

midweek larger ceremonies but introducing flat rates Monday to Friday and 
weekends) all authorities are proposing higher fees than currently detailed within the 

benchmarking document.   

At Salford advanced notice to customers is important and therefore fees for three 
years are readily available on the Register Office website to allow informed decisions 

for booking ceremonies at Salford.  The recommendation therefore to set fees now 
for 2024 – 2026 ceremonies will allow evaluation of demand and budget 

requirements.  

The statutory fee for a Register Office ceremony is offered every Tuesday with a 
higher availability than most other GM Authorities.  This means Salford is still 

addressing the anti-poverty strategy and offering more ceremonies at a much 
cheaper rate.  The fee for this ceremony including the certificate is £57.00. 

Each authority is legally obliged to offer this ceremony, however, the provision is 
usually available for most authorities only for limited slots on a morning only.  Salford 
provides these ceremonies each Tuesday all day. 

What are the main areas requiring further attention? 

N/A 

Summary of recommendations for improvement 

N/A 

 

Page 54



3 
 

1. The proposal 

 To set a fee structure for ceremonies within the City of Salford from April 2024 to 

March 2026 to allow advance notice of fees to all ceremony customers.  This allows 
customer decisions and budgeting in advance for booking ceremonies up to March 
2026.  Fee reviews are undertaken every 3 years.  

 The proposed fee structure is attached within this document where the 
benchmarking information is detailed. 

 Each local authority across England and Wales set fees for ceremonies taking place 
at licenced venues, and within Local Authority ceremony rooms.  Salford ceremony 

fees have historically been set lower than the average within the north-west and 
particularly across Greater Manchester. 

 These fees are an income stream for each local authority and this must be factored 

in when considering the proposals. 

 Approval by Lead Member and the council is therefore sought to implement the new 

fee structure in conjunction with this assessment. 

 The anti-poverty strategy and customer choice is reflected in the provision of a 

statutory ceremony whereby availability of this service is much higher at Salford 
Register Office, than neighbouring districts.  Customers can choose to hold a 
ceremony in any district within England and Wales regardless of their district of 

residence, and often Salford is chosen from residents who live outside the area.  

 

 

Page 55



4 
 

2. Evidence and research 

What equality information (qualitative and quantitative), research or other intelligence 

have you used to develop this proposal? 

This can include equality monitoring information, census data, customer satisfaction 

surveys and feedback, inspection reports, desktop research (local, regional and 
national), professional journals, feedback from individuals and groups. Details of 
information considered when assessing the impact should be published (whilst 

ensuring individual confidentiality). 

Information source: Ceremony surveys for the Town Hall, Swinton only  

140 surveys completed to date, including choice of ceremony provision based on volumes 
of guests.  For this period (June 2022 to January 2023) 40% of our customers wanted the 
statutory ceremony where four people attend the ceremony for the fee of £57.  The 

remainder of customers wished for larger rooms and more guests with no negative 
feedback 

 Previous customer satisfaction ceremony surveys completed 2019 demonstrate 
100% rating. 

Information source: Benchmarking information 

Proposed fees by implementation date will remain average and competitive due to all other 
authorities set to increase fees by April 2023 and 2024 (see above GM authority 

benchmarking document and lowest/highest fees set as at February 2023) 

 

Page 56



5 
 

3. Engagement / Consultation 

When considering your proposal, you should be engaging with individuals and groups covering the following protected characteristics 

(You can use evidence from existing consultations if this evidence is relevant to your proposal): 

 Age 

 Disability  

 Gender 

 Gender reassignment 

 Marriage and Civil Partnership 

 Pregnancy and maternity 

 Race 

 Religion and belief 

 Sexual orientation 

We also advise you to consult people on a low income, carers, ex-offenders, refugees and people seeking asylum, gypsies 

and travellers, where appropriate. 

You should detail below your engagement activities (Please note; you must ensure individual confidentiality) 

Date(s) of engagement:  April 2022 to date 

Ceremony customers on ceremony choice and provision/proposed relocation of Register Office 

Main issues identified:  none identified in relation to fees specifically – customer choice and availability for statutory ceremony in 

place 

Date(s) of engagement: September 2022 

General Register Office/ONS for statutory ceremony provision 

Main issues identified:  High demand from non-British Nationals due to changes to immigration rules following Brexit therefore the 
need to provide more statutory ceremonies has been identified and implemented.  Changes to rules where any person who does not 

P
age 57



6 
 

have British nationality must provide extra documentation to determine eligibility to marry has incurred significant costs on this 

demographic.  Salford is currently experiencing a demand of 28% of all notices of marriage or civil partnership (more information 
below within protected characteristic group) 

Date(s) of engagement:  April 2022 to date 

Register Office customer surveys to analyse any specific need/requirements within all the protected groups for wider service 
provision is ongoing.  Full analysis of data will be provided on a separate EIA  

Main issues identified:  N/A to fees and this assessment 

: 

 

P
age 58



7 
 

4. Assessing the impact 

From your evidence gathering, you will have identified potential disproportionate negative impacts. Please provide details and 
your actions to overcome these below. We would also like to know if there will be any positive impacts that your proposals will 
make to improve equalities: 

 Potential impact: If the proposal could result in some groups (including customers and/or staff) being disadvantaged or treated 
unfairly 

 Mitigations and actions: Where there is a potential for disadvantage or unfair treatment, what are your plans to eliminate, 
reduce, mitigate or justify it? Could making these changes have a negative effect on any other group(s)? Explain why and 

what you will do about this. You should include details of who will be responsible for the actions and target dates for 
completion:  

 Promoting Equality: Could the proposal result in an opportunity to promote equality or inclusion? Explain how. 

Please note: these details will form the basis of your action plan. 

Protected characteristic or other group: Age 

Age limit to marriage or civil partnership is raised to 18 years from the 27 February 2023.  Previous to this new legislation any 
person aged 16 – 18 years of age needed parental consent to enter into a marriage or civil partnership.  Predominately, lower 
age ceremonies are from the traveller community or those with cultural beliefs.  

Statistics within Salford show the demand for these ceremonies is exceptionally low consisting of 1% of ceremonies within the  
last 3 years.  However, the council has informed the traveller community of this issue, and all the clergy, authorised persons and 

secretaries of synagogues have been informed via the General Register Office. National press and television news has also 
covered this. 

In relation to fees increase and age, the very low percentage of persons wishing to marry where parental consent was needed 

previously is negligible.  Any persons of low age and receiving a low income are addressed below within ‘low income’ groups 

  

P
age 59



8 
 

Protected characteristic or other group: Disability 

No impact on specific disabilities – however, in relation to lower income due to disability could impact – referenced therefore 
within ‘lower income’ groups 

Protected characteristic or other group: Gender  

None 

Protected characteristic or other group: Gender reassignment 

None 

Protected characteristic or other group: Marriage and Civil Partnership 

None as fees are set the same for marriage, same sex marriage and civil partnership therefore no penalties  

Protected characteristic or other group: Pregnancy and maternity 

None 

Protected characteristic or other group: Race/Nationality 

Cultural beliefs and race can determine the need for the statutory service provision prior to a religious ceremony which is separate 
to the Council’s fees and services.  Therefore, the increase in statutory service provision is already in place and is a higher 

provision than neighbouring authorities.  Salford provides the statutory ceremony each Tuesday all day thus providing 8 - 10 
ceremonies per week potentially.  Most offices provide 2 – 3 per week maximum.  This is a primary focus of Salford Register 

Office reaching not only our own customers who live in Salford but those in neighbouring districts.  

Race and nationality bring separate needs but nationality can dictate the need for expensive processes to allow a marriage within 
England and Wales to proceed.  This includes Home Office approval such as permits/visas and passport stamps detailing 

indefinite leave to remain which can facilitate marriage or civil partnership.  Given the expensive costs incurred, any subsequent 
marriage fee can impact individuals therefore, the statutory offer at Salford does facilitate demand including persons who do not 

specifically live within Salford.  The volume of notices for none-UK nationals has increased from 17.5% in 2021/22 to 28.5% in 

P
age 60



9 
 

2022/23.  Where the UK national lives within Salford, the statutory ceremony is booked at Salford as there is more availability 

than waiting longer for an available date within neighbouring authorities.  

Protected characteristic or other group: Religion and belief 

Cultural need and religious ceremonies highlight the need for provision of statutory ceremony.  This provision has increased at 

Salford affording more availability as per detailed above.  Certain religions and cultural practice mean a religious marriage 
ceremony is held within specific communities for example the Jewish and Muslim faiths.  To ensure legal recognition of a 

marriage within the UK often, a statutory ceremony is undertaken at the register office prior to the religious ceremony (which has 
no legal standing).  Therefore, the increase of availability of the statutory ceremony at the lower fee facilitates this.  

Protected characteristic or other group: Sexual orientation 

No impact as marriage/civil partnership and transgender processes in place 

Protected characteristic or other group: Other groups 

Low-income groups 

Fees increase could potentially disadvantage low-income groups and limit choice.  However, to mitigate this, the statutory 
provision at Salford has increased therefore making a ceremony available at a very low cost with the room provided being of a 

high standard (rather than a working office).  Also, the fees at Salford have not increased dramatically for numerous years – the 
proposed fees are in line with GM Authorities and a lead in time of 12 months is planned before introduction.  Fees at Salford 

are advertised to allow customers to budget accordingly whereas other authorities do not do this.  The proposed payment 
structure allows for a low deposit to secure the date and time of ceremony, with a further two payments due to allow a phased 
payment approach to our customers to help with affordability.  

 

P
age 61



10 
 

5. Assessing the impact on community cohesion  

Community cohesion is what must happen in all communities to enable different groups of people to get on well together. A 
key contributor to community cohesion is integration which is what must happen to enable new residents and existing residents 
to adjust to one another. 

An integrated and cohesive community is based on three foundations: 

 People from different backgrounds having similar life opportunities. 

 

 People knowing their rights and responsibilities. 

 

 People trusting one another and trusting local institutions to act fairly. 

 

And three ways of living together: 

 A shared future vision and sense of belonging. 

 A focus on what new and existing communities have in common, alongside a recognition of the value of diversity. 

 Strong and positive relationships between people from different backgrounds. 

Detail below if the proposals is likely to impact on community cohesion, including if there is likely to be a positive impact: 

 

N/A 

 

P
age 62



11 
 

6. Monitoring 

You should ensure that any actions within your EIA are monitored and reviewed regularly within Pentana. You should review 
progress on your action plan annually. 

7. Review 

Your EIA should be reviewed after the proposals have been implemented to review actual impact. You should record an 
appropriate review date below.  

Review date:  

8. Sign off  

When you have completed your EIA, it must be signed off by a senior manager within your service group (Assistant Director or 
above).  

Name:  

Signature 

Date: 

When your EIA has been signed off and after the decision has been made, send it to 
Equalities&CohesionTeam@salford.gov.uk in Policy and Strategy for publishing on the council’s website.  

P
age 63

mailto:Equalities&CohesionTeam@salford.gov.uk
http://www.salford.gov.uk/impact-assess.htm

	Agenda
	3a Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Business Rates Relief Scheme.
	3b 2023 Supporting Small Business Scheme.
	3c Former Tenants' Arrears Write Off.
	Appendix 2 FTA Former Tenancy Arrears Recovery process V1.4

	3d Ceremony Fees Review.
	equality-impact-assessment-eia-template Fees Review Register Office Feb 2023


